Welcome to the St. Thomas Synagogue’s Weibel Memorial Museum

“The Synagogue of St. Thomas, rebuilt in 1833 after fire destroyed an older structure, is today one of the most charming sights of the Island, and an important architectural monument of the Jewish people in the New World. Visitors of all faiths experience a moment of awe at the sight of the austere Sephardic interior, the heavy hurricane-proof walls, the vaulted windows and the sand-covered floor...

In the great surge to the Caribbean following World War II, the Jewish community has come strongly to life on St. Thomas. The voices of children studying Hebrew are heard once more on Synagogue Hill. Here as everywhere else, there is a revival of Jewish spirit and learning; largely inspired, here as everywhere, by the rebirth of the Jewish State in Israel.”

- Herman Wouk
A Short History of the Hebrew Congregation of St. Thomas, 1983
The first Jews in the Caribbean were of Sephardic, or Spanish-Portuguese, descent. Victims of the expulsions of 1492 and 1497, these Jews settled in cities like Bordeaux, Bayonne, Hamburg, and Amsterdam. Over the next centuries, partially as a result of discrimination in other professions, they developed a strong mercantile trade. The colonization in the Caribbean opened new opportunities for them, often without the bias they faced in Europe, and a number of Jews took advantage of the situation. They settled in places like Brazil, Curaçao, Barbados, Nevis, St. Eustatius, St. Croix, and, of course, St. Thomas, forming trading companies and working to turn the islands into habitable colonies. The island of St. Thomas was officially settled in 1665. There is documentary evidence that Jews lived here from that time, having come to the island as shop owners, ship chandlers and brokers, entrepreneurs in sugar, rum, and molasses and traders between Europe and the American colonies.
Early Jewry on St. Thomas
1672-1781

The Jewish population of St. Thomas and St. Croix was very small during the first century of colonization. Once in a while, however, certain Jews would achieve specific recognition. One of the wildest and most famous was Gabriel Milan, who was appointed governor of the Danish West Indies in 1684 by King Christian V of Denmark. Over the next three years, he became a tyrant, terrorized the population, went mad, and stood up (unsuccessfully) to an army of warships sent to bring him back to Europe. In 1687, a court in Copenhagen found Milan guilty of treason, and he was decapitated two years later.

Most other Jews at the time led even, productive lives, usually in trade. Occasionally the local paper would cover a story about a Jewish resident, or run ads placed by Jewish families. However the tiny Jewish community did not figure prominently in general goings-on of the Virgin Islands.

Did the Jews of the Virgin Islands trade slaves? In the 1600’s and 1700’s, slave trading became a fashionable industry in Europe and the Americas. The Virgin Islands, as a major port area, served as a gateway for some of these slaves. However, their involvement was minimal – the Virgin Islands imported less than 0.1% of all the slaves brought to the Caribbean – and the Danish government officially eliminated the Virgin Islands slave trade in 1803. (Emancipation, though, did not come until 1848.)

It is likely that the ranks of those who traded slaves during this time included some Jews. There is no evidence, on the other hand, that the Jews took any sort of a disproportionate role in the industry. Thus, while it is wrong to leave the Jews out of this period of inhumanity, it is no better to give them any greater responsibility for a phenomenon propagated by African and European society alike.
The St. Thomas Jewish Community Founds a Synagogue

1781-1796

The Island got its first infusion of Jewish settlers during the American Revolution. The British Navy stationed a blockade along the Atlantic coast to thwart the American Revolutionaries. However, the Dutch on the Island of St. Eustatius, then a major port with a large Jewish mercantile community, had little love for the British and much sympathy for the American Revolutionaries. They helped them with arms and ammunition.

In 1781, British Admiral George Rodney besieged St. Eustatius. Dubsious from the start, the siege lasted several months and resulted in the permanent destruction of the island’s welfare. The Jews took the brunt of the blame, and many families were deported or forced to flee. Over the following decades, a number of these merchants decided to make their new homes in the Virgin Islands. This, along with other emigration from Curacao and Europe, probably marked the start of the expansion and organization of the Jewish communities of the Virgin Islands. By 1784, St. Croix had a functioning synagogue and St. Thomas followed suit soon afterward.
The ensuing years brought huge growth to the Jewish community. A number of new names sprang up in the papers, as more Jewish families came to the island. Our cemeteries tell the story. Graves of Sephardic Jews and kin bear names like Azevedo, Benjamin, Cardoze, De Castro, Da Costa, Pereira, Piza, Robles, Sasso, Toldano, Valencia, and others. They set up their businesses in a climate of great tolerance, experiencing little discrimination from the government.

In 1796 the Jews of St. Thomas founded this congregation and called it "Blessing and Peace" (B'racha v'shalom). Only nine Jewish families belonged to the congregation in 1801. In 1803, however, it increased to 22. In 1804, the small wooden synagogue was destroyed by fire, as well as hundreds of other buildings on St. Thomas. In 1812, the Jewish community purchased land and built a new synagogue. The congregation continued to grow and in 1823 the building was dismantled and a larger one erected and renamed "Blessing and Peace and Loving Deeds" (B'racha v'shalom u'gemilut hasadim), the name it carries today.

On Old Year's Night (December 31) 1831, a fire broke out in the home of a Spanish merchant, and spread quickly through the town of Charlotte Amalie. Despite the best efforts of the island firefighters and local community, the synagogue could not be saved. Overall, the blaze destroyed over a quarter of the island's buildings. At the start of the New Year 1832, the Jewish community was homeless.
A short time later, the Jews set out to rebuild their house of worship, not of wood this time but of stone, brick and mortar. This ad, which appeared in the local St. Thomas Tidende several times, was part of an international appeal to friends and family for donations of money, materials, and labor.

The campaign was extremely successful. Jew and non-Jew alike contributed generously to the cause. According to the list published in the St. Thomas Tidende on April 3, 1833, a total of 3,472 was raised. It is something to contemplate that this magnificent synagogue was built for a little more than $5,000, old-time dollars. On December 18, 1832, the congregation installed the synagogue’s cornerstone. Construction was quick, and the synagogue was ready to be consecrated by September, 1833.

This account of the synagogue’s dedication ceremony exemplifies the respect and support which the Jews received on St. Thomas. The entire process of rebuilding was truly an island activity, involving everybody regardless of religion. It is clear that the island shared in the Jews’ joy—and justly so. The consecrated building is the one you are admiring right now.
This period saw a further expansion of the congregation, and the continued establishment of Jews as a prominent and respected minority on St. Thomas. The Jews bought a new burial ground, established a Hebrew School, and began using the services of a bona fide minister – the Dutch Reverend Benjamin Cohen Carillon. This Jewish calendar, published on February 22, 1843, in the Tidende, is an indication of the extent to which the Jews were able to integrate in the St. Thomas community.
Reform Hits
St. Thomas I

In the world at large, this time period saw a proliferation of new Jewish publications and the constitution of new Jewish rituals and ideas. Attempting to link the Jewish world with the outside community, the Reform movement developed organized congregations in a number of European countries. Following the trend in St. Thomas, a grass roots movement made attempts to incorporate the liturgy of the London Reformers as early as 1842. In 1843, the St. Thomas synagogue had the distinction of performing the first Jewish Confirmation recorded in this hemisphere.

Reverend Carillon also had his mind on reforms, albeit in a very different fashion. He turned down the ideas of British reform in favor of his own style. This included the omission of large portions of the service, and the addition of prayers of his own composition. This caused a great strife within the synagogue, resounding as far as London, England.

The controversy became so heated among the Jewish community that it finally split over the issue, with some in the Carillon camp, and others espousing a more "orthodox" doctrine. For a short time, there were two places of Jewish worship on the island. After some consternation, the community finally resolved the issue by firing Reverend Carillon and hiring Reverend Moses Nathan, a conservative leader who held a much more antagonistic view toward Reform. Slowly, the two congregations learned to trust Reverend Nathan, and they rejoined under a traditional Spanish-Portuguese minhag (service liturgy).
One of the first results of reconciliation was a new set of by-laws. Put together under the supervision of Reverend Nathan as well as Danish governmental officials, the new laws were approved by the congregation, by the Danish colonial government, and by the Danish national government. This allowed for further growth in the congregation.

This time period was one of great prosperity for St. Thomas as well as for the Jewish community. St. Thomas became known as one of the best ports in the Caribbean, and people of all backgrounds flocked to the area. Within years, the Jewish community had reached over 600 on the island, with greater than 100 souls attending services each Sabbath. At such rate, it was assumed, the size of the synagogue would soon prove inadequate for its constituents.

During this time, the island established new institutions, including a savings bank and a gas light company, and it was never uncommon to see Jewish names filling roles of great responsibility.

As the population of the islands grew, and the types of jobs in societal roles diversified, the Danish government issued a new set of Colonial Laws. Section 71 of these laws allowed a provision for religion that seemed to ensure the island’s harmony. It actually opened the door for a small group of Jews who still held on to their desire for reform.
SCHISM!
Reform Hits St. Thomas II

After exchanging several angry letters with an increasingly resistant Reverend Moses Nathan, 14 members of the congregation broke off on March 14, 1867, to form their own synagogue, called “Beth Elohim.” Using the liturgy of the British reformers, they rented the second floor of a house three blocks away (at 19 & 20 Commandant Gade) and began holding services there regularly. The group justified their existence to the government by stating that the Reform practices were different enough from the Spanish-Portuguese ritual to warrant a new congregation. To the great chagrin of the first synagogue, the government eventually accepted this argument.

Word of the new synagogue spread quickly. In America, Isaac Mayer Wise, one of the fathers of the American Reform Movement, responded enthusiastically in his publication, the Israelite. David Woolf Marks, author of the British reform prayer book, also sent them a note of encouragement. On the island, though, the new synagogue still met a great deal of animosity from its established counterpart. Accusations flew constantly from one side to the other.

The Hebrew Reformed Congregation’s services included many divergences from the Spanish-Portuguese service. As evidenced in this account of a Rosh Hashanah service in 1869, the congregation even used an organ and choir in its worship.

By this time, the original congregation had swelled to 72 members. It purchased its own burial ground, and drafted its own set of by-laws. Frustrated, Reverend Nathan left his post. His successor, E.N. Martinez, followed suit soon after, leaving the position to lay leader David Cardoze, Jr. Constantly battling, the two congregations had very little else to do with each other.

However, this separation was not to last too long. By this time, more efficient steamships and the birth of the telegraphic era began to diminish St. Thomas’s importance in the international trade. Recent storms and plagues spearheaded an economic decline, and an aborted attempt by the United States to purchase the islands left the area demoralized. The heyday of St. Thomas was over, and the population, in response, was moving elsewhere.
Many Jews contributed to the emigration out of St. Thomas. A large number travelled to Colon, Panama (the future site of the Panama Canal), where they established congregation Kol Shearith Yisrael in 1876. Others moved to the United States or to other islands where business was better.

Those who stayed on St. Thomas realized that the population could no longer support two synagogues, and so the two groups set their differences aside and once again reunited. This reconciliation produced a new set of by-laws, which satisfactorily addressed the needs of both the reformers and the traditionalists.

It is also possible that the transition from two synagogues back into one was significantly easier because of the presiding minister. David Cardoze, Jr. differed from his predecessors in that he was a long-term resident of the islands, running a dry-goods store for many years, serving as a teller in the savings bank, and taking on nearly every lay-leadership position in the synagogue before becoming reader of the congregation. With a strong familiarity in St. Thomas Jewish folk customs, it was likely easier for him to walk the line between the two sides, resolve existing conflicts, and bring the synagogue into its next state of existence.
A Shrinking Population

David Cardoze officiated over the congregation until the age of 90. According to one report, his mind and eyes remained sharp until the end of his life, and he performed the service every week with intelligence and passion. The Jewish community, however, continued to shrink, and families continued to move off the island.

But during the late 19th century St. Thomas saw a small influx of Jews from Eastern Europe. Coming over in search of better opportunities, they established themselves as merchants on St. Thomas. Hard-working and innovative, they quickly rose to join the ranks of the island’s most prosperous. Within the Hebrew Congregation, they helped to bolster the shrinking numbers, and became financial pillars of the synagogue during its most difficult years.

These families still hold prominent roles in the St. Thomas community. The Levin (pronounced “Leveen”) and Trepuk families ran large dry-goods shops on Main Street. The Paiewonsky family developed one of the largest business enterprises in the Virgin Islands. Members of the family include former Governor Ralph Paiewonsky and island author and historian Isidor Paiewonsky.
Reverend Cardoze's death in 1914 dealt a terrible blow to the Jewish community. Yet Cardoze made sure that he did not leave his congregants leaderless. On his death bed, he appealed to a young man named Moses DeCastro Sasso to ascend to the pulpit in his place. Although born on St. Thomas, Sasso had lived much of his life in Panama, where he had a background in religious observance as well as a little knowledge of Hebrew. Cardoze's pleas succeeded and Sasso agreed to move back to the island and continue the job.

And so at the age of 20, Moses Sasso became the youngest religious leader on the island. Because of his age, the Danish government could not officially recognize Sasso as reader of the congregation. Instead it named him assistant reader under an older congregant. A few years later, he assumed full official responsibility for synagogue worship.
Moses Sasso inherited a dwindling but dedicated congregation. Although not well versed in Hebrew and with only minimal knowledge of Jewish law, he held services every Sabbath morning and on each holiday. Children from the time remember the length of the ceremony as “Molito,” chanted each prayer with great emotion.

In December, 1925, Dr. Henry Pereira Mendes, rabbi emeritus of the Spanish and Portuguese Congregation in New York City, visited Sasso and the Hebrew Congregation. His eight-month stay on the island proved a shot in the arm for the synagogue. On the island, Mendes began to teach a confirmation class of seven younger members of the Hebrew Congregation to replace its damaged roof. Upon his departure in July, 1926, the synagogue board awarded him the title of Rabbi Emeritus of the St. Thomas Hebrew Congregation.

By 1942, fewer than 50 Jews still lived on St. Thomas. As this contemporary article shows, scholars saw the age-old community as warranting little more than a footnote in history.
After World War II, St. Thomas once again began to show signs of life. Americans, replete with their new-found prosperity, came down as tourists and fell in love with the island. Many decided to move here, bringing with them their own brand of American Reform Judaism. Over the course of the next several years, this stateside population grew and far outnumbered the dwindling Sephardic population.

These Americans pushed to introduce some of their own traditions into the synagogue service, including incorporation of the Reform Union Prayer Book. Sometimes they met with opposition from Reader Sasso who wished to remain true to his minhag and traditions. But more often than not, Sasso eventually accepted the modifications as necessary to the well-being of the new population.

One of the most significant developments during this time was the formation of a Sisterhood at the synagogue. Pictured here at their first seder, the Sisterhood quickly became one of the most powerful and prominent groups within the congregation, leading numerous synagogue events and fund-raisers.

By the end of Sasso’s career, the synagogue was on an upswing, poised for a significant transformation. With different needs and demands, the new post-war Americans began to rejuvenate the Jewish community, taking it in new and different directions. For 50 years, Sasso struggled to keep his congregation alive. He finally achieved success when he was able to step down from a congregation that could once again perpetuate itself.
Jewish Governors of the Virgin Islands

Morris Fidanque De Castro, Virgin Islands, Governor 1950-1954
Morris De Castro was the first native Virgin Islander appointed to the Governor’s post. Born to an old and respected Caribbean Sephardic family, De Castro began his political career at age 16 as a clerk in the V.I. Sanitation Department. Over the following years, he progressed steadily from one post to the next, learning about his government intimately before eventually presiding over it. During his time in office, De Castro helped to bring the islands closer to popular self-rule by bringing the issues of the government directly to the people. His weekly radio announcements and frequent public appearances brought De Castro great respect and popularity.

Morris De Castro was one of the primary architects behind the Revised Organic Act of 1954. The act extended voting privileges to non-English speakers, brought income tax revenues directly to the V.I. government, nullified Congress’s veto power over Virgin Islands legislation, and consolidated the governments of the three Virgin Islands into a common system. This paved the way for the establishment of a more independent Virgin Islands government.

Before and after his term, De Castro served actively in the Hebrew Congregation, frequently filling leadership roles on the synagogue board. He now rests along with his family in the Altona cemetery.

Raphael Moses (Ralph) Paiewonsky, Virgin Islands, Governor 1961-1969
Ralph Paiewonsky (1907-1991) came from an affluent St. Thomas merchant family. After spending his school years in St. Thomas, Paiewonsky attended New York University where he earned his degree in chemistry. Returning to the island, he expanded the family’s Bay Rum business into a financial empire and became intensely involved in island finances and politics.

In 1961, President John Kennedy appointed Paiewonsky Governor of the Virgin Islands. Ever the entrepreneur, Paiewonsky approached the governorship as a financial and social challenge. Over the course of his eight-year term, he introduced a number of reforms that jump-started the territory’s sluggish economy and brought the Virgin Islands into great prosperity. Expanding the tourist industry, Paiewonsky widely publicized the islands as an attractive vacation paradise. He also opened the door for outside businesses to establish themselves on the islands, and succeeded in luring the Hess and Harvey Alumina companies to build plants on St. Croix. In an effort to improve education on the islands, Paiewonsky promised governmental jobs to all high school graduates; also under his administration, the islands founded the College of the Virgin Islands, today the University of the Virgin Islands.

A devoted member of the Hebrew Congregation, Ralph Paiewonsky spent many years on the synagogue board. He is buried in the Altona Jewish cemetery on St. Thomas.

Second-in-Command: Aron Wolff
During the mid-19th century, Aron Wolff held the position of second-in-command to the governor. An esteemed Jewish statesman from St. Thomas, Wolff participated actively in synagogue politics, starting a school on the island, coordinating Jewish magazine subscriptions from England, and serving more than once as president of the congregation. He also helped to start the island’s first savings bank and insurance company, and attained the rank of major in the local militia. Some sources state that Wolff served for a short time as governor, probably while the presiding governor was away. As such, he deserves mention here.
Soon after Sasso retired in 1966, the Hebrew Congregation changed dramatically. First, the synagogue incorporated as a non-profit organization, changing its official name to "The Hebrew Congregation of St. Thomas, Inc." Applying for and receiving membership in the Union of American Hebrew Congregations, the congregation hired a Reform rabbi, Samuel Markowitz, to lead it into the new age. Completely restructured, the Hebrew Congregation completed the switch from its traditional Sephardic roots to a model of the American Reform synagogue.

Over the next years, the congregation adjusted to its new identity. Rabbi Markowitz gave way to Rabbi Murray Blackman, who in turn gave way to Rabbi Joseph Karasick. In 1971, Karasick stepped down and laypeople took over the ministerial duties. The synagogue board initiated numerous projects and events, and congregants began to play a larger role in their congregation. Energy and drive sometimes resulted in terrible quarrels, but also pushed the synagogue to new heights of participation and involvement.

One of the Hebrew Congregation’s most important actions during these years was its renovation of the synagogue building. Badly in need of repair after several years of low maintenance, the building underwent a facelift. Workers removed the plaster from the interior walls, converted the Sukkah area (where you stand right now) to a closed vestry, and performed crucial ceiling and structural repairs. As the renovations finished, the Hebrew Congregation redirected the building in grand fashion with a three-day celebration of its past, present and future.
Once Again, Expansion
1974-1983

Without a rabbi, the congregation learned to support itself spiritually. In 1975, an empowered congregation hired Rabbi Stanley Relkin to serve as spiritual leader. Over the following decades, the synagogue and its members moved into a period of great prosperity.

As the St. Thomas economy improved, more American Jews moved onto the island and joined the synagogue. This enlarged membership gave the congregation financial stability. Seeing a need for more space, the synagogue added a second story to its back room. At the same time, the congregation’s Hebrew School took strong root, educating over a dozen children every week.
Bringing us into the Present

In 1983, the congregation celebrated its sanctuary’s 150th anniversary. The whole island looked on in admiration as its Jewish residents rejoiced in their heritage during a gala event-filled weekend.

In 1986, the Synagogue expanded further. It purchased the house at #9 Crystal Gade for use as a social hall. Named after Bea Lilienfeld, an illustrious and involved member of the congregation, the house underwent refurbishment. In 1991, a new rabbi, Bradd Boxman, led the congregation in its dedication.

Between 1991 and 1995, further expansion enhanced the synagogue’s population. The contributions of many brought the Hebrew Congregation to new levels of activity and enthusiasm. Between the youth group, adult-school classes, volunteer choir, board and committee meetings, and special programs, nearly all of the 120 member families dedicated themselves to the synagogue’s welfare. In a new effort to enhance tourism, the synagogue installed a gift shop and expanded its offices into the second story.

This time period also saw huge preparations for a bicentennial celebration between September 1995 and June 1996. Major island corporations contributed to the effort, helping to bring in illustrious guests such as Supreme Court Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg, Nobel Laureate Elie Wiesel, poet Maya Angelou and violinist Itzhak Perlman, and to fund an art exhibition of early Camille Pissarro works. However, on the eve of the celebration, disaster struck. Between September 15 and 16, 1995, Hurricane Marilyn wreaked havoc, crippling the island for months. Miraculously the synagogue suffered little damage, but many island houses and facilities were destroyed. Nevertheless, the congregation determined to continue its plans. With the opening of this museum on November 17, 1995, the celebration commenced with hope and enthusiasm.

On September 25, 1997, the U.S. Department of Interior, National Park Service, designated the St. Thomas Synagogue as a National Historic Landmark. The St. Thomas Synagogue is surpassed in age among U.S. synagogues only by Touro Synagogue (1763), in Newport, Rhode Island, which was designated a National Historic Site on March 4, 1946. Touro Synagogue, however, was only occasionally used for worship between the 1820s and 1880s, making the St. Thomas Synagogue the oldest synagogue building in continuous use in the United States. The congregation of Kahal Kadosh Beth Elohim in Charleston, South Carolina, was established in 1749 and erected its current house of worship in 1840. It was designated an National Historic Landmark in 1980 in part in belief that it was the second oldest extant in the country and the oldest in continual use. The St. Thomas Synagogue predates Kahal Kadosh Beth Elohim Synagogue by seven years.

In 2000 a major restoration of the temple was completed, led by restoration architect William Taylor and committee chair Charles Ellick. The restoration was necessary to counteract the negative effects of time, climate, and previous renovations that allowed moisture to attack the walls. The interior walls were once again covered in white plaster and the French brass chandeliers, which have Baccarat crystal chimneys, were restored. The restoration cost approximately $375,000.
Today, after more than 200 years of struggle and prosperity, sorrow and joy, destruction and rebuilding, we take a moment to reflect on where we, as a community, are going. Once, we were traders and merchants. Now, we take on all kinds of occupations. Once, we all huddled within two blocks of the synagogue. Now, we live all over the island. Once, we came from Spain and Portugal, escaping oppression and searching for freedom. Now, we come from all over the world, searching for new opportunities. St. Thomas, once a colonial port of trade for Denmark, is now a tropical port of call. Throughout the generations our synagogue has remained a house of comfort, refuge, and reflection. This is our reminder that while our congregation may change with the times, the soul of the synagogue stays constant.

What lies ahead? After this generation’s services and celebrations, projects and exhibits, what will we have built for those to come after us? Just as our congregation changed over the years, it will change again. We will have a different role in society. We may, indeed, have a different synagogue. We will serve the needs of the time to survive, as all Jews have done for so long. Yet, we will also follow in the footsteps of our ancestors, preserving our heritage and honoring our traditions. The sands of time may pass over our shores again and again, changing our landscape, but the soul of our synagogue and its people remains eternal.

Our history does not end. Rather, with each generation, it begins anew.

This museum narrative is a collection of historical data from a variety of sources, primary and secondary. Segments of this narrative were taken from “A Short History of the Hebrew Congregation of St. Thomas,” edited by Rabbi Stanley T. Relkin and Monty R. Abrams.